Safety Assessment of Avena Sativa-Derived Ingredients as Used in Cosmetics

Status: Scientific Literature Review for Public Comment

Release Date: March 14, 2014 Panel Meeting Date: June 9-10, 2014

All interested persons are provided 60 days from the above date to comment on this Scientific Literature Review and to identify additional published data that should be included or provide unpublished data which can be made public and included. Information may be submitted without identifying the source or the trade name of the cosmetic product containing the ingredient. All unpublished data submitted to CIR will be discussed in open meetings, will be available at the CIR office for review by any interested party and may be cited in a peer-reviewed scientific journal. Please submit data, comments, or requests to the CIR Director, Lillian J. Gill D.P.A..

The 2014 Cosmetic Ingredient Review Expert Panel members are: Chairman, Wilma F. Bergfeld, M.D., F.A.C.P.; Donald V. Belsito, M.D.; Curtis D. Klaassen, Ph.D.; Daniel C. Liebler, Ph.D.; Ronald A Hill, Ph.D. James G. Marks, Jr., M.D.; Ronald C. Shank, Ph.D.; Thomas J. Slaga, Ph.D.; and Paul W. Snyder, D.V.M., Ph.D. The CIR Director is Lillian J. Gill, D.P.A. This report was prepared by Lillian C. Becker, Scientific Analyst/Writer.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
INTRODUCTION	1
CHEMISTRY	1
Definition and Description	1
Physical and Chemical Properties	2
Method of Manufacture	2
Impurities	2
USE	2
Cosmetic	2
Non-Cosmetic	3
TOXICOKINETICS	3
Estrogenic Activity	3
Overview of Dermal Effects	4
Dermal Effects	4
In Vitro	4
In Vivo	4
TOXICOLOGICAL STUDIES	4
REPRODUCTIVE AND DEVELOPMENTAL TOXICITY	4
GENOTOXICITY	5
CARCINOGENICITY	5
IRRITATION AND SENSITIZATION	5
Irritation	5
Dermal – Human	5
Sensitization	5
Dermal – Human	5
Phototoxicity	6
CLINICAL USE	6
Case Studies	6
SUMMARY	
DATA NEEDS	7
TABLES AND FIGURES	8
REFERENCES	13

INTRODUCTION

This is a review of the available scientific literature and unpublished data provided by industry relevant to assessing the safety of *Avena sativa* (oat)-derived ingredients as used in cosmetics. The functions in cosmetics of these ingredients include: abrasives, antioxidant, skin-conditioning agents, absorbents, and bulking agents. The 18 ingredients included in this report are:

- Avena sativa (oat) bran
- Avena sativa (oat) bran extract
- Avena sativa (oat) flower/leaf/stem juice
- Avena sativa (oat) kernel extract
- Avena sativa (oat) kernel flour
- Avena sativa (oat) kernel meal
- Avena sativa (oat) kernel oil
- Avena sativa (oat) kernel protein
- Avena sativa (oat) leaf extract
- Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract

- Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract
- Avena sativa (oat) meal extract
- Avena sativa (oat) meristem cell extract
- Avena sativa (oat) peptide
- Avena sativa (oat) protein extract
- Avena sativa (oat) seed water
- Avena sativa (oat) sprout oil
- Avena sativa (oat) starch
- Avena sativa (oat) straw extract

This safety assessment does not include colloidal oatmeal. Colloidal oatmeal is defined as finely ground oatmeal. The definition of this ingredient does not specify the species of oat from which it is derived. Therefore, any oat species (i.e., *A. abyssinica*, *A. byzantine*, *A. nuda*, and *A. strigosa*) may be used. However, data on colloidal oatmeal that specifies that it is derived from *A. sativa* are included in this safety assessment for read across purposes.

CHEMISTRY

Definition and Description

The definitions and functions of avena sativa-derived ingredients are provided in Table 1.

A. sativa is a member of the Gramineae (grass) family. The plant is an annual grass that grows up to 1.5 meters high. The stems may be tufted or solitary, erect or bent at the base, and smooth. The leaves are non-auriculate, green and the sheaths rounded on the back. The cluster of flowers is a diffuse panicle with 2-3 florets which are either all bisexual or the distal one or two may be reduced and male or sterile. The grain is tightly enclosed by the hard lemma and palea. The seed size varies with cultivar and commonly yields approximately 30 000 seeds per kilogram.

CONSTITUENTS

Constituent groups found in A. sativa include:

Amino acids - Oats are rich in the limiting amino acid lysine, approximately 4%. L-Threonine has also been identified.

Avenanthramides – Soluble, phenolic compounds are a minor component of *A. sativa* (0.03% by weight). ^{4,5} They have powerful anti-oxidative activity. They also have anti-inflammatory properties. ⁶

Enzymes – The enzymes found in A. sativa include lipase, lipoxygenase, and superoxide dismutase. ^{7,8}

Flavanoids – The following flavonoids have been isolated in A. sativa bran: kaempferol 3-O-(2",3"-di-E-p-coumaroyl)- α -L-rhamnopyranoside; kaempferol 3-O-(3"-E-p-coumaroyl)- α -L-rhamnopyranoside; kaempferol 3-O-(2"-O-E-p-coumaroyl)- β -D-glucopyranoside; kaempferol 3-O-p-glucopyranoside; kaempferol 7-O- α -L-rhamnopyranoside; linarin; tilianin; myricitrin; quercitrin; kaempferol 3-O-rutinoside; rutin; tricin 7-O- β -D-glucopyranoside; tricin; kaempferol; and luteolin.

The total flavonoid content of the n-hexane extract of an A. sativa whole plant extract is 40.72 ± 4.81 mg/g, 77.59 ± 6.71 mg/g for an ethyl acetate extract. No flavonoids were detected in an ethanol or a water extract.

Lipids – A. sativa contain higher levels of lipids, particularly those containing a high-content of unsaturated fatty acids, than other cereal type grains. The most abundant lipids are unsaturated triglycerides. ^{11,12} The lipid content depends on genetic and environmental factors; the method extraction and analysis and also result in differences in lipid content.

A. sativa starches contain lipids ranging from 1% to 3%, present in the starch possibly as an amylose–lipid complexes. ¹²

Phenolic compounds – At various growth stages, *A. sativa* has been found to contain a large number of phenolic compounds including all major classes: benzoic and cinnamic acids, quinones, flavones, flavones, chalcones, flavanones, anthocyanidines, and aminophenolics. *A. sativa* oat flour contains the glyceryl esters of hydroxycinnamic, ferulic, *p*-coumaric, and caffeic acids. Antioxidant activity is attributed to the presence of phenolic esters. *A sativa* also contains various compounds with antioxidant activity that protect the lipids from oxidation. One type of phenolic compound, called avenanthramides are found in oat extracts.

The total phenol content of the n-hexane extract of an *A. sativa* whole plant extract is 26.10 ± 2.31 mg/g, 75.79 ± 4.02 mg/g for an ethyl acetate extract, 39.34 ± 0.78 mg/g for an ethanol extract, and 46.02 ± 0.07 mg/g for a water extract. ¹⁰

Polysaccharides – these include starches and β -glucan. Carbohydrates mostly consist of araban and xylan gums. Polysaccharides – these include starches and β -glucan.

Proteins – A. sativa has a high level of total proteins compared other grasses.²⁰

Vitamins and minerals -A. sativa contains a variety of minerals and vitamins.²¹ These include vitamin E, mostly as α -tocopherol.^{8,20}

STEM AND LEAVES

The stem and leaves are rich in apigenin and luteolin flavonoids (i.e., C-glycosylflavones), tricin flavones, and flavonolignans. They also contain bidesmosidic steroidal saponins (e.g., avenacosides A and B), proteins (in particular, membrane proteins and soluble proteins of chloroplasts), and various phenolic compounds (e.g., avenanthramides). 22-25

CONSTITUENTS OF CONCERN

Quercitrin – Quercetin has been reported to be in the hay of *A. sativa*. This constituent was positive for genotoxic effect in an Ames assay.²⁶ It is also consistently genotoxic in in vitro tests and in some in vivo studies of i.p. exposures, but was consistently nongenotoxic in oral exposure studies using mice and rats.²⁷

Physical and Chemical Properties

The flavonoids with phenolic structures have strong absorption of ultra violet A (UVA) in the 320 to 370 nm range. Other phenolic esters, called avenacins (saponins structurally), have also been isolated.

Method of Manufacture

To produce extracts (information was unclear on the type of extract, e.g., not clear if this would be avena sativa (oat) leaf extract, avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract, and/or avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract) without detectable proteins, young (prior to earing) *A. sativa* plants are dried and crushed.²⁸ An extraction is performed under stirring for 1 hour. The extract is filtered and the residue is rinsed. The filtrate is then concentrated, delipidated, and dried. This yields an extract in powder form containing 2% to 15% flavonoids, and 0.2% to 2% avenacosides A and B.

Impurities

There were no detectable proteins (limit of detection for the enzyme-linked immunoassay [ELISA] technique less than 0.5 ppm of protein) in an extract of young *A. sativa* plants.²⁸

Fusarium avenaceum, Pseudodiscosia avenae and Sclerospora macrospora are among the species of fungi known to infect oat plants, including A. sativa (Table 2).³

Two of five oat-based cereals tested positive for the micotoxin deoxynivalenol (DON) at 2.6 and 1.3 μ g/g. ²⁹ Three of these products tested positive for zearalenone (ZEA) at an average of 16 ng/g. Aflatoxin B₁ (AFB₁) was not detected in these samples.

The micotoxins DON, 3-acetyl DON (3AcDON), nivalenol, neosolaniol, T-2 triol, T-2 toxin, and HT-2 toxin (HT-2) were detected in samples of recently harvested oats (species/varieties not provided).³⁰ Samples were made from both conventional and organic farms.

ZEA (17%), DON (17%), and OTA (20%) were detected in A. sativa bran samples (n = 30) collected from grocery stores and health food stores in Spain.³¹

Oat straw bedding contaminated with *Fusarium sporotrichiodes*, a toxic mold, was the cause of raised, plaque-like and cracked skin lesions on the udders, hind quarters, lips, and muzzles of cows when the straw was used as bedding.³²

Cadmium content in fresh *A. sativia* grown in Finland ranged from 0.008 to 0.120 mg/kg dry weight.³³ There was no difference between conventionally and organically grown crops. Nitrogen fertilization increased cadmium content. Cadmium content may vary by strain and may exceed safe levels.³⁴ The safe level set by the European Commission is 0.1 mg/kg fresh mass.

<u>USE</u>

Cosmetic

Data on ingredient usage are provided to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Voluntary Cosmetic Registration Program (VCRP; Table 3).³⁵ A survey was conducted by the Personal Care Products Council (Council) of the maximum use concentrations for these ingredients.³⁶

Ingredients that had both frequency and concentration of use data were:

Avena sativa (oat) bran was reported to be used in 18 leave-on and 18 rinse-off products including baby shampoos; baby lotions, oils powders, and creams; dentifrices, shaving cream; and personal cleanliness products. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 0.0072% in leave-on products and up to 2.5% in leave-on eye lotion.

Avena sativa (oat) bran extract was reported to be used in 5 leave-on products and 1 rinse-off product. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 0.2% in leave on face and neck products.

Avena sativa (oat) kernel extract was reported to be used in 352 leave-on products including eye and makeup products. It was also reported to be used in 81 rinse-off products and 2 products diluted for the bath. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 25% in leave-on products and up to 1% in leave-on products. There were no concentrations of use reported for products diluted for the bath.

Avena sativa (oat) kernel flour was reported to be used in 92 leave-on products, 37 rinse-off products, and 2 products diluted for the bath. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 20% in leave-on products (up to 20% in foundations) and up to 5% in rinse-off products (up to 5% in paste masks and mud packs).

Avena sativa (oat) kernel meal was reported to be used in 7 leave-on products, 15 rinse-off products, and 3 products diluted for the bath. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 1% in bath soaps and detergents.

Avena sativa (oat) kernel oil was reported to be used in 39 leave-on products, 5 rinse-off products, and 1 diluted for the bath. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 0.25% in leave-on products (up to 0.25% in body and hand products) and up to 0.45% in bath soaps and detergents.

Avena sativa (oat) kernel protein was reported to be used in 24 leave-on products and 8 rinse-off products. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 0.001% in leave-on products (up to 0.001% in hair conditioners and pump hair sprays) and up to 5.2% 5.2% in bath soaps and detergents.

Avena sativa (oat) meal extract was reported to be used in 13 leave-on products and in 11 rinse-off products. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 0.0025% in leave-on products including body and products and moisturizing products. It was also reported to be used up to 0.005% in rinse-off products, and up to 0.005% products diluted for the bath.

Avena sativa (oat) peptide was reported to be used in 2 leave-on products and 3rinse-off products. It was reported to be used up to 0.33% in leave-on products and up to 0.013% in rinse-off products.

Avena sativa (oat) protein extract was reported to be used in 2 leave-on and 2 rinse-off products. This ingredient was reported to be used up to 1.5% in skin cleansing products.

Avena sativa (oat) straw extract was reported to be used in 1 moisturizing product. It was reported to be used in body and hand products up to 0.001%.

Frequency of use data only were available for:

Avena sativa (oat) starch was reported to be used in 4 leave-on products and 2 rinse-off products.

There were no reported uses for:

Avena sativa (oat) flower/leaf/stem juice

Avena sativa (oat) leaf extract

Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract

Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract

Avena sativa (oat) meristem cell extract

Avena sativa (oat) seed water

Avena sativa (oat) sprout oil

Non-Cosmetic

A. sativa-containing products are used as a moisturizer and to treat itchy skin due to dryness, chicken pox, poison ivv/oak/sumac, and insect bites. ³⁷ It is also used to treat acne.

Colloidal oatmeal, including oatmeal derived from *A. sativa*, is used to treat atopic dermatitis and other inflammatory dermal diseases.⁵ It is regulated for this use by the FDA as an over the counter drug, and can be included in tub baths at a minimum concentration of 0.007% if alone, or at a minimum concentration of 0.003% when combined with mineral oil (30%, 35%). The monograph defines a skin protectant as a "drug product that temporarily protects injured or exposed skin or mucous membrane surfaces from harmful or annoying stimuli, and may help provide relief to such surfaces.[68 FR 33362] Products that contain colloidal oatmeal may be used for temporary protection and relief from minor skin irritation and itching.[21 CFR347.10(f)] The oatmeal product may be used in the bath or as a compress or wet dressing (minimum of 0.25% colloidal oatmeal).[21 CFR347.10(o)]

Colloidal oatmeal, including that derived from *A. sativa*, is used in dermatological practice as an adjunctive therapy to treat many pruritic skin conditions such as cercarial dermatitis (swimmer's itch), chicken, pox, poison ivy, oak and sumac, insect bites, winter itch, atopic dermatitis, dry skin, allergic or irritant contact dermatitis, and ichthyosis.³⁸⁻⁴³ Other indications for colloidal oatmeal products include prickly heat, hives, sunburn and rashes.

TOXICOKINETICS

There were no data discovered or submitted on the toxicokinetics of the constituents of A. sativa ingredients.

Estrogenic Activity

When 23-24-day-old female rats (n = 5-10) were subcutaneously injected with avena sativa hay extract (0.15 mL in olive oil) and 0.05 μ g estradiol, uterine weights were greater than in the rats injected with estradiol alone.⁴⁴ This result was

true when the solvent was ether, the chloroform extract fraction of the ether extract, or the fraction obtained from an alumina column of the ether extract using chloroform.

Overview of Dermal Effects

The dermal effects of colloidal oatmeal derived from A. sativa have been attributed to the anti-inflammatory and antipruritic properties of avenanthramides. This constituent has been shown to reduce oxazolone-induced contact hypersensitivity, resiniferatoxin-induced neurogenic inflammation, and induced histamine-mediated itch. 45 In vitro, avenanthramides reduced histamine release from mast cells stimulated by substance P. The buffering property of colloidal oatmeal, important for preservation of skin barrier function was shown when treatment with colloidal oatmeal reduced the elevated pH of pathologic skin (e.g., eczematous or pruritic) or alkali-treated skin to within the normal range. Other skin barrier effects include the formation of a protective moisturizing barrier by the proteins and polysaccharides in colloidal oatmeal, reducing transepidermal water loss (TEWL). Colloidal oatmeal has also been shown to act as an emollient, humectant and occlusive. 46 The application of A. sativa extracts to sodium lauryl sulfate (SLS)-treated skin has been shown to reduce irritation compared to vehicle demonstrating the anti-inflammatory effects of oats and suggesting potential benefits for the skin barrier as well.⁴⁷ It has been reported that *A. sativa* extracts inhibited the phospholipase A2 (PLA2)-dependent mobilization of arachidonic acid from phospholipids in cultured human keratinocytes. 48 This extract also inhibited the formation of eicosanoids, expression of cytosolic phospholipase PLA2 and formation of metabolites of rostacyclin, all of which are implicated in the regulation of inflammation. In a separate study, an A. sativa extract oligomer reduced vasodilation induced by vasoactive intestinal peptide in human skin samples.⁴⁹ Treatment with the oligomer reduced edema and mean surface of dilated vessels. It has also been reported that colloidal oat extracts (ethanol and phosphate buffer) had inhibitory activity toward prostaglandin synthase of bull seminal vesicles.⁵⁰

Dermal Effects

In Vitro

When fibroblast cells obtained from cosmetic surgery were incubated with *A. sativa* whole young plant extract (0.05%), there was increase proliferation of cells and an extension of a neoepithelium.⁵¹ There were no differences in the number of basal layers up to day 20, and then there were more layers on day 22. A dermal equivalent was created in a petri dish by combining dermal fibroblasts with collagen type I. A punch biopsy from skin left over from surgery was used as a source of epidermal cells which were implanted on the dermal equivalent, where a multilayered epidermis developed.

In Vivo

AVENA SATIVA WHOLE PLANT EXTRACT

In a wound-healing experiment using the n-hexane, ethyl acetate, ethanol, and water extracts of whole A. sativa plants, there were no adverse effects to Sprague-Dawley rats (n = 6+) and Swiss albino mice (n = 6+) when the extracts (1%, 0.5 g in an ointment base) were administered to wounds daily for 9 days. The ethanol extract increased wound healing activity, the other extracts did not.

The rats and mice were anesthetized and either two incisions along either side of the backbone or a biopsy punch were performed. The extracts were administered to the wounds once per day for 9 days. The rats and mice were killed and the wounds excised. The healing of the incision was measured by tensile strength across the wound and the healing of the punch was measured by area of healing.¹⁰

COLLOIDAL OATMEAL

In a blind study of acute burn patients (n = 35), a shower/bath oil containing colloidal oatmeal (5% in liquid paraffin), reported no adverse effects.⁵² The group using colloidal oatmeal had a reduction in itch compared to the group using paraffin oil alone. The subjects showered or bathed with the test material or the same product without the colloidal oatmeal for 30 days.

Complete or marked itch relief was reported by over 71% of subjects (n = 139; aged 21 to 91) suffering from various pruritic dermatoses when colloidal oatmeal was used as a bath and regular cleanser for 3 months.⁴¹

Pediatric subjects (n = 152) presenting with atopic dermatitis, contact dermatitis, fungus infections, or seborrheic dermatitis who were administered baths with colloidal oatmeal in an oil showed improved soothing and cleansing with no irritation compared to standard therapy.³⁹

TOXICOLOGICAL STUDIES

No acute or repeated dose toxicity studies were discovered or submitted.

REPRODUCTIVE AND DEVELOPMENTAL TOXICITY

No published reproductive or developmental toxicity studies were discovered and no unpublished data were submitted.

GENOTOXICITY

No published genotoxicity studies were discovered and no unpublished data were submitted.

CARCINOGENICITY

No published carcinogenicity studies were discovered and no unpublished data were submitted.

IRRITATION AND SENSITIZATION

Irritation

Dermal - Human

When a cream containing an extract of young A. sativa plants (information not clear on the type of extract, e.g., avena sativa (oat) leaf extract, avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract, and/or avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract; concentration and amount applied not provided) was administered to female subjects (n = 16) with dry skin, there were no signs of irritation. The cream was administered to one or other elbow fold twice daily for 4 days, then once more on day 5. The cream was also applied to one side of the face once daily. Sixty-three percent of the subjects had sensitive skin and 81% had sensitive eyes.

In another study of the same product, no irritation was observed when the cream was administered to the stripped skin of subjects (n = 19). Both elbow folds were stripped 6 times and the test material administered 72 h later to one of the stripped sites. The test material was administered twice per day for 4 days and once on the fifth day. The sites were examined for erythema, pruritus, heat, tingling, and burning on days 4, 5, 6, and 7. All subjects exhibited moderate to intense erythema after stripping. There was no erythema observed in 14 subjects by day 4 and in no one by day 8. No patients experienced any subjective signs of a reaction.²⁸

Sensitization

Dermal - Human

In a use study of a cream and soap containing an extract of young *A. sativa* plants using subjects (n = 8 females, 4 males) with a history of cereal-sensitized atopic dermatitis, none of the subjects developed immediate or delayed hypersensitivity to the products after using them for 45 days. ⁵³ The extract is from entire young plants so it is not clear if this would be avena sativa (oat) leaf extract, avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract, and/or avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract. The cream contained 12 % and the soap contained 3% of the extract. Before and after the use study, none of the subjects displayed positive reactions in patch tests and skin prick tests of five fractions of the extract used in the products or the study cream. Total serum *A. sativa* IgE analyzed before and after the use study did not change.

Before the experiment started, an open application test was conducted on all subjects. The *A. sativa* extracts (colloidal 5%, phenolic 5%, acetonic 5%, enzyme-hydrolyzed phenolic 5%, acetonic [sic] 5%) and the cream were administered to the forearm for 15 min and observed for a reaction.

The subjects used their own cream for 10 days, during which they were administered a patch test and a prick test, which was repeated after the use part of the experiment. The patch tests consisted of 2 sets of 3 negative controls (patch only, petrolatum, saline); 1 positive control (sodium lauryl sulfate, 0.5%); and 5 A. sativa extracts in 11 mm Finn chambers. One set of chambers was removed after 30 min and observed immediately. The second set was removed after 48 h and observed 30 min and 48 h later. The prick tests of the same test materials were administered to the anterior left forearm. The test sites were observed after 30 min.

Before and after the use experiment, total IgE and A. sativa-specific IgE were measured.

On the first day, the test cream was administered to one half of the subjects' bodies. The vehicle cream, without the *A. sativa* extract, was administered to the other half of the subjects' bodies. The subjects showered 4 h later using the test soap. The subjects then used the cream with the extract twice per day and showered with the soap once per day for 21 days.⁵³

In a group of children (under 15 years of age) referred for allergy testing (n = 150 females, 152 males), 14.6% had positive results in a patch test of the *A. sativa* young plant extract described above (1%, 3%, 5%; Table 4).⁵⁴ Sixteen of 44 subjects tested positive at 5%, 6 for both 3% and 5%, and 22 for all three concentrations.

In a skin prick test of the same subjects, 19.2% had positive reactions to a standardized oat extract (solvents not provided). Sensitization was observed in a total of 32.5% of the subjects. Only four subjects tested positive in both tests. Sensitization decreased as age increased.

The authors concluded that the prevalence of sensitivity to *A. sativa* was higher than expected and could possibly be due to the prevalent use of cosmetics that contain some form of *A. sativa*. In a history survey of 67 of the subjects, there was no connection between sensitization and clinical signs (asthma, hay fever, atopic dermatitis severity); home location; proximity of cereal production; consumption of oats; skin prick test results to grass, cereal pollen or wheat pollen; or oat- or wheat-specific IgE. In the patch test, 100% of the subjects that had not used products containing *A. sativa* tested negative; only 66.7% of those that had used product containing *A. sativa* had negative results (p-value = 0.0068).⁵⁴

There were no signs of irritation or sensitization in a human repeated insult patch test (HRIPT; n = 104) of a cream containing A. sativa (concentration not provided; $50 \mu L$). The test material was administered in a Finn chamber on days 1,

3, 5, 8, 10, 12, 15, 17, and 19 for 48 or 72 h. After 2 weeks, the challenge was left in place for 48 h on a naïve site.

COLLOIDAL OATMEAL

Children (n = 65; 6 months to 2 years) that were atopic or nonatopic with and without previous exposure to *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal, did not show signs of immediate or urticarial or allergic reactions to two bath products containing *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal at the expected use concentration (0.007% in water) or the elevated concentration (0.7% in water). These subjects were also non-reactive to *A. sativa* colloidal oat flour (0.7%, 0.007% in water). The subjects were exposed to the bath products for 15 min. There were no reactions. Then a patch test using pairs of Finn chambers (50 μ L) was conducted. One set of chambers was removed and observed after 24 h, the second after 48 h. Both sets were observed at 72 and 96 h.

Of children (n = 302) with atopic dermatitis, 14.6% and 19.2% tested positive in patch test and skin prick test for *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal.⁵⁴ Of those sensitized, 15.6% (five of 32) and 28% (seven of 25) tested positive in an oral food challenge and a repeated open application test. Children with atopic dermatitis that were referred for allergy testing were administered patch tests and skin prick tests to oat proteins (1%, 3% and 5%) and the European standard series sensitization tests were performed. Subjects found to be sensitized to *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal were administered an oral food challenge and repeated open application test. Children under 2 years of age were more likely to have positive patch test. Thirty-two percent that used *A. sativa* creams had oat-positive patch tests, while none of the nonusers were sensitized. The authors noted that A. sativa sensitization in children with atopic dermatitis was higher than expected. This may be the result of repeated applications of cosmetics containing *A. sativa* on a damaged epidermal barrier. The authors suggest that topical creams containing *A. sativa* proteins should be avoided in infants with atopic dermatitis.

Phototoxicity

A. sativa has been reported to cause photosensitization when consumed by cattle, goats, pigs, and sheep.⁵⁶

CLINICAL USE

Case Studies

A 4-month old infant with atopic dermatitis and allergy to cow's milk tested positive in patch-tests (++) for the sensitization to oats and showed a sensitization to wheat, that the child had never ingested.⁵⁷ The authors suggested that in utero wheat sensitization cannot be eliminated but most likely, the infant developed a cross-sensitization to wheat after being sensitized by a cream containing oats (Aderma®). At 1 year old, the child had identical results for the patch-test to wheat and remained on an eviction diet.

Three children (14 months, 2 years, and 14 years) with atopic dermatitis had positive patch tests for oatmeal extract (species not provided).⁵⁸ The children all had histories of bathing with a product that contained an oatmeal extract. The eczema worsened after such baths. None of the subjects had a history of consuming oats.

A 3-year-old girl presented with an atopic dermatitis event on her arm and hands after using a moisturizer cream containing the young *A. sativa* plant extract mentioned earlier. ⁵⁹ IgE levels were elevated and a standard prick test was positive for *Dermatophagoides farina* and *D. pteronyssinus*. The subject had a family and personal history of other atopic maladies such as hay fever and rhinitis. Standard patch testing was positive for the cream at days 2 and 3 (++, ++). She was patch tested further with the ingredients of the cream (provided by the manufacturer) and was positive for the plant extract at days 2 and 3 (++, ++) but not for the zinc oxide and Vaseline oil. The atopic dermatitis did not reoccur when she no longer used the product.

A 7-year-old girl presented with swollen lesions where an oat cream had been applied after bathing. ⁶⁰ The lesions appeared 15 min after application. She had a history of IgE-mediated allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, allergic asthma, and atopic dermatitis syndrome from the age of 3. The lesions were only on the application sites and resolved in less than 1 h without treatment. Skin tests were positive for grass, rice and oat pollens, and were negative for the other pneumoallergens and foods. An open patch test was positive, and swollen lesions were apparent on the right forearm 10 min after the cream was administered which resolved 30 min after administration of oral cetirizine. The oat-specific IgE assay was positive, at 0.76 kU/1, and negative for the other cereals. The girl ate foods containing oats with no adverse effects.

A 33-year-old female presented with a persistent rash that had linear streaks of eczema, mostly on the forearm, the sides of her face and neck, and less so on her waist and ankles. 61 The rash started 3 weeks after beginning a job weighing bird feeds that included oats. Patch test of the seeds had a ++ reaction to crushed oats at 48 h and + at 96 h. She also had a ++ reaction to bran at 96 h. The rash resolved when the subject avoided working with oats and bran. The rash reoccurred when she measured out oats and bran on two occasions.

A 33-year-old woman presented with atopic eczema and allergic rhinoconjunctivitis. ⁶² She had a history of type 1 hyersensitivity reactions to dust mites, cats, dogs, malassezia, nuts, shrimp, lobster, and asparagus. She had used a moisturizer made for atopic and very dry skin that contained *A. sativa* extract for 1 year. The reaction began to appear approximately 6 months after she began using the moisturizer. The reaction faded a few hours after application. The subject noted that she experienced itching and swelling of the lips and pruritic, erythematous papules and patchy lesions on her trunk after eating breads containing oatmeal.

The patch test of the moisturizer was negative but the prick test was positive. Her total IgE was slightly elevated.

Further analysis of her serum revealed immunoreactivity to a "casual" *A. sativa* extract but not another *A. sativa* extract with the proteins removed. The sera of three other cereal-sensitized subjects were tested with five different *A. sativa* extracts, one without proteins. Two subjects reacted to all of the extracts; the third did not react to any. 62

SUMMARY

This is a safety assessment of *A. sativa*-derived cosmetic ingredients. These ingredients function as abrasives, antioxidant, skin-conditioning agents, absorbents, and bulking agents. This report does not include colloidal oatmeal as the definition does not restrict the species of oats used.

Multiple fungi and their toxins have been reported in the plant, seed, dried hay, and/or in processed oat cereals.

These ingredients are used up to 25% in leave-on products and up to 5.2% in rinse-off products. Avena sativa (oat) kernel extract has the most reported uses at 436 up to 25%. Avena sativa (oat) kernel flour is used in 131 cosmetic products up to 20%.

Dermal anti-inflammatory and buffering effects have been attributed to *A. sativa*. Dermal cells incubated in an extract of the whole plant of *A. sativa* had increase proliferation. Dermal administration of a whole plant ethanol extract of *A. sativa* increased wound healing activity in rats and mice. There were no adverse effects when products containing colloidal oatmeal were used on subjects with damaged skin.

Creams containing an extract of the entire young *A. sativa* plant were not irritating when administered to the intact and stripped skin of human subjects for up to 5 days.

The use of a cream and soap containing the extract of young *A. sativa* plants (12%, and 3%, respectively) for 45 days did not result in hypersensitivity. In a patch test of children referred for allergy testing, 14.6% tested positive for a young plant extract of *A. sativa* at 1%, 3% or 5%. In a skin prick test of the same subjects, 19.2% had positive reactions. An HRIPT of a cream containing an extract of the entire *A. sativa* plant was negative in 104 subjects.

Two bath products containing *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal did not show signs of immediate or urticarial or allergic reactions when tested on children with and without atopic dermatitis. Of a group of children with atopic dermatitis, 14.6% and 19.2% tested positive in patch test and skin prick test for *A. sativa* colloidal oatmeal.

There are several reported cases of atopic dermatitis as a result of using products containing A. sativa ingredients.

DATA NEEDS

The CIR staff requests the following data and any other data that would be informative to this report:

- Characterization of all the ingredients in this report
- Method of manufacture for all ingredients except whole plant extract
- Reproductive and developmental toxicity studies
- Genotoxicity studies
- Carcinogenicity studies
- Irritation/sensitization studies for the avena sativa (oat) kernel protein, meristem cell extract, peptide, protein extract, and straw extract
- Phototoxicity studies

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Definition and function of avena stavia-derived ingredients. ¹

Ingredient	Definition	Function
Avena sativa (oat) bran	The broken coat of the kernels of oats, <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Abrasive, absorbent, bulking agent
Avena sativa (oat) bran extract	The extract of the bran of Avena sativa	Skin-conditioning agents – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) flower/leaf/stem juice	The juice expressed from the flowers, leaves and stems of <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agents – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) kernel extract 84012-26-0	The extract of the kernels of <i>Avena</i> sativa.	Antioxidant; skin-conditioning agent – emollient; skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) kernel flour 134134-86-4	A powder obtained by the fine grinding of the kernels of oats, <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Abrasive, absorbent, bulking agent; viscosity increasing agent – aqueous
Avena sativa (oat) kernel meal	A coarse meal obtained by the grinding of the kernels of oats, <i>Avena sativa</i>	Abrasive, absorbent, bulking agent
Avena sativa (oat) kernel oil	The fixed oil expressed from the kernels of the oat, <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agent – occlusive
Avena sativa (oat) kernel protein	A protein obtained from the kernels of oats, <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Film former; hair conditioning agent; skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) leaf extract	The extract of the leaves of <i>Avena</i> sativa.	Cosmetic astringent
Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract	The extract of the leaves and stalks of <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stem extract	The extract of leaves and stems of <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) meal extract	The extract of the meal of Avena sativa.	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) meristem cell extract	The extract of the cultured meristem cells of <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agent – humectant
Avena sativa (oat) peptide 151661-87-9	The peptide fraction isolated from Avena Sativa (Oat) Protein Extract by ultra-membrane filtration.	Film former; hair conditioning agent; skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) protein extract	The extract of Avena Sativa (Oat) Kernel Protein.	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) seed water	An aqueous solution of the steam distillates obtained from the seeds of <i>Avena sativa</i>	Solvent
Avena sativa (oat) sprout oil	The oil obtained from the sprouts of <i>Avena sativa</i> .	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous
Avena sativa (oat) starch 9005-25-8 (generic)	A starch obtained from oats, <i>Avena</i> sativa.	Absorbent
Avena sativa (oat) straw extract	The extract of the straw of <i>Avena</i> sativa.	Skin-conditioning agent – miscellaneous

Table 2. Fungi that are known to attack *A. sativa.*³

Alternaria sp.	Aphanomyces camptostylus	Ascochyta graminicola	Botrytis cinerea
Cercosporella herpotrichoides			
(resistant)	Cladosporium graminum	Claviceps purpurea (Ergot)	Colletotrichum graminicola
Erysiphe graminis	Fusarium avenaceum	F. culmorum	F. graminearum
F. moniliforme	F. oxysporum	F. pose	F. roseum
			Helminthosporium avenae (Stripe
F. scirpi	Fusicladium destruens	Giberella zeae	disease)
H. sativum	H. victoriae	Heterosporium avenae	Leptosphaeria avenaria
Marasmius tritici	Pholiota praecox	Phyllosticta avenophila	Polymyxa graminis
Pseudodiscosia avenae	P. striaefaciens	Puccinia coronate	P. graminis
P. rubigo-vera	Pyrenochaeta terestris	Pyrenophora avenae	Pythium debaryanum
P. aristosporum	P. irregulare	P. rostratum	P. ultimum
Rhizoctonia solani	Sclerospora macrospora	Sclerotium rolfsii	Scoloectrichum graminis
Septoria tritici	Ustilago avenae (Loose smut)	Wojnowicia graminis.	-

Table 3. Frequency of use according to duration and exposure of *A. sativa*-derived ingredients. The Council conducted a survey or the concentration of use for the ingredients added to this report.

		Maximum Concentration		Maximum Concentration		Maximum Concentration		Maximum Concentration
Use type	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)
	Avena s	ativa (oat) bran	Avena s	sativa (oat) bran extract		sativa (oat) af/stem juice	Avena sativa (oat) kernel extract	
Total/range	36	0.0072-2.5	8	0.2	NR	NR	436	0.00001-25
Duration of use		******		**-				***************************************
Leave-on	18	0.0072	5	0.2	NR	NR	352	0.000016-25
Rinse-off	18	2.5	1	NR	NR	NR	81	0.00001-1
Diluted for (bath) use	NR	NR	2	NR	NR	NR	2	NR
Exposure type								
Eye area	NR	0.0072	NR	NR	NR	NR	30	0.00006-0.13
Incidental ingestion	2	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.24
Incidental Inhalation-sprays	11	NR	4	NR	NR	NR	296	0.0006-0.14 ^a ; 0.0025 ^b ; 0.000016-25 ^c
Incidental inhalation-powders	16	NR	4	NR	NR	NR	297	0.005-0.14d; 5°; 0.000016- 25 ^f
Dermal contact	28	0.0072-2.5	8	0.2	NR	NR	414	0.000016-25
Deodorant (underarm)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hair-noncoloring	6	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	20	0.00001-0.05
Hair-coloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.00006
Nail	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Mucous Membrane	7	2.5	2	NR	NR	NR	25	0.0051-1
Baby	11	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	10	NR

Table 3. Frequency of use according to duration and exposure of *A. sativa*-derived ingredients. The Council conducted a survey or the concentration of use for the ingredients added to this report.

		Maximum		Maximum		Maximum		Maximum
Use type	Uses	Concentration (%)	Uses	Concentration (%)	Uses	Concentration (%)	Uses	Concentration (%)
esc type		ativa (oat) kernel		ativa (oat) kernel		tiva (oat) kernel		tiva (oat) kernel
	11 venu se	flour	21 venu se	meal	21 venu su	oil		protein
Total/range	131	0.001-20	25	1	35	0.001-0.45	32	0.001-5.2
Duration of use								
Leave-on	92	0.01-20	7	NR	39	0.001-0.25	24	0.001
Rinse-off	37	0.1-5	15	1	5	0.45	8	0.001-5.2
Diluted for (bath) use	2	NR	3	NR	1	NR	NR	NR
Exposure type								
Eye area	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	4	NR
Incidental ingestion	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Incidental Inhalation-sprays	40	0.01-3 ^a ; 0.01- 1 ^c	5	NR	23	NR	19	0.001 ^{b,g}
Incidental inhalation-powders	66	NR	4	NR	27	NR	18	NR
Dermal contact	122	0.01-20	25	1	33	0.001-0.45	26	5.2
Deodorant (underarm)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hair-noncoloring	9	0.001-3.2	NR	NR	2	NR	6	0.001
Hair-coloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Nail	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Mucous Membrane	14	NR	12	1	3	0.45	2	5.2
Baby	7	NR	NR	NR	7	NR	NR	NR

		tiva (oat) leaf tract	eaf Avena sativa (oat) Avena sativa (oat) leaf/stalk extract leaf/stem extract		Avena sativa (oat) meal extract			
Total/range	1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	24	0.0001-0.005
Duration of use								
Leave-on	1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	13	0.001-0.0025
Rinse-off	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	11	0.0001-0.005
Diluted for (bath) use	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.005
Exposure type								
Eye area	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Incidental ingestion	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Incidental Inhalation-sprays	1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	12	NR
Incidental inhalation-powders	1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	12	NR
Dermal contact	1	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	22	0.0001-0.005
Deodorant (underarm)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hair-noncoloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	2	NR
Hair-coloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Nail	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Mucous Membrane	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	6	0.001-0.005
Baby	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Table 3. Frequency of use according to duration and exposure of A. sativa-derived ingredients. The Council conducted a survey or the concentration of use for the ingredients added to this report.

		Maximum		Maximum		Maximum	•	Maximum
***	**	Concentration	***	Concentration	**	Concentration	**	Concentration
Use type	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)	Uses	(%)
		a sativa (oat)	Aver	na sativa (oat)		sativa (oat)	Avena s	ativa (oat) seed
		m cell extract		peptide		in extract		water
Total/range	NR	NR	5	0.0026-0.33	4	1.5	NR	NR
Duration of use								
Leave-on	NR	NR	2	0.013-0.33	2	1.5	NR	NR
Rinse-off	NR	NR	3	0.0026-0.013	2	NR	NR	NR
Diluted for (bath)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
use	1110	TVIC	1111	TVIC	THE	TVIC	1110	TTIC
Exposure type								
Eye area	NR	NR	1	0.33	NR	NR	NR	NR
Incidental	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
ingestion	NIX	IVIX	INIX		INIX	INIX	INIX	IVIX
Incidental	NR	NR	1	0.013 ^a ; 0.013-	2	1.5 ^a	NR	NR
Inhalation-sprays	1110	1414	1	0.22°		1.5	1414	1410
Incidental	NR	NR	NR	NR	2	NR	NR	NR
inhalation-powders								
Dermal contact	NR	NR	3	0.013-0.33	4	NR	NR	NR
Deodorant	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
(underarm)	NR	NR	2.	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hair-noncoloring Hair-coloring	NR NR	NR NR	NR	NR NR	NR NR	NR NR	NR NR	NR NR
Nail	NR	NR NR	NR	NR NR	NR	NR NR	NR	NR NR
Mucous								
Membrane	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Baby	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

	Avena sativ	a (oat) sprout			Avena sat	iva (oat) straw	
		oil	Avena sat	iva (oat) starch	e	xtract	
Total/range	NR	NR	6	NR	1	0.001	
Duration of use							
Leave-on	NR	NR	4	NR	1	0.001	
Rinse-off	NR	NR	2	NR	NR	NR	
Diluted for (bath) use	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Exposure type							
Eye area	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Incidental ingestion	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Incidental Inhalation-sprays	NR	NR	3	NR	1	NR	
Incidental inhalation-powders	NR	NR	4	NR	1	NR	
Dermal contact	NR	NR	6	NR	NR	0.001	
Deodorant (underarm)	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Hair-noncoloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Hair-coloring	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Nail	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Mucous Membrane	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Baby	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	

NR = Not Reported; NS = Not Surveyed; Totals = Rinse-off + Leave-on Product Uses.

Note: Because each ingredient may be used in cosmetics with multiple exposure types, the sum of all exposure type uses may not equal the sum total uses.

^a Product(s) may or may not be a spray

b Spray product(s)

^c Not spray product(s)

d Product(s) may or may not be a powder Powder product(s)

f Not powder product(s)

g Pump spray

Table 4. Results of atopy patch test and skin prick test of *A. sativa* extracts on children under 15 years old.

Test	0-2 (n = 55)	2-6 (n = 160)	6–15 (n = 87)	Total $(n = 302)$
APT+ SPT-	24	13	3	40 (13.2%)
APT- SPT+	0	31	23	54 (17.8%)
APT- SPT-	30	114	60	204 (67.5%)
APT+ SPT+	1	2	1	4 (1.5%)
APT +	25 (45.5%)	15 (9.3%)	4 (4.6%)	
SPT +	1 (1.8%)	33 (20.6%)	24 (27.6%)	

APT – atopy patch test. STP – Skin prick test

REFERENCES

- Gottschalck TE and Breslawec HP. International Cosmetic Ingredient Dictionary and Handbook. 14 ed. Washington, DC: Personal Care Products Council. 2012.
- Suttie, JM. Avena sativa L.; Gramineae. http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/AGPC/doc/Gbase/DATA/Pf000466.HTM.
- Purdue University Center for New Crops & Plants Products. Avena sativa L. Poaceae, Common oats. http://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/duke_energy/Avena_sativa.html. Date Accessed 2-26-2014.
- Pazyar, N, Yaghoobi, R, Kazerouni, A, and Feily, A. Oatmeal in dermatology: a brief review. *Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venereology, and Leprology*. 2012;78(2):142-145.
- Cerio, R, Dohil, M, Downie, J, Magina, S, Mahé, E, and Stratigos, AJ. Mechanism of action and clinical benefits of colloidal oitmeal for dermatologic practice. *Journal of Drugs in Dermatology*. 2010;9(9):1116-1120.
- Sur, R, Nigam, A, Grote, D, Liebel, F, and Southall, MD. Avenanthramides, polyphenols from oats, exhibit anti-inflammatory and anti-itch activity. Archives of Dermatological Research. 2008;300(10):569-574.
- Giannopolitis, CN and Ries, SK. Superoxide dismutases. I. Occurrence in higher plants. Plant Physiology. 1977;59:309-314.
- 8. Youngs, VL. 2Oat lipids and lipid-related enzymes. Webster, FH. In: *Oats: Chemistry and Technology*. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Ceral Chemists, Inc.; 1986:205-226.
- Zhang, W-K, Xu, J-K, Zhang, L, and Du, G-H. Flavanoids from the bran of Avena sativa. Chinese Journal of Natural Medicines. 2012;10(2):110-114.
- Küpeli Akkol, E, Süntar, I, Erdogan Orhan, I, Keles, H, Kan, A, and Çoksari, G. Assessment of dermal wound healing and in vitro antioxidant properties of Avena sativa L. Journal of Cereal Science. 2011;53(3):285-290.
- Aman, P and Hellelman, K. Analysis of starch and other main constituents of cerial grains. Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research. 1984;14:135-139.
- 12. Zhou, M, Robards, K, Glennie-Holmes, M, and Helliwell, S. Oat lipids. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society. 1999;7(2):159-169.
- Collins, FW. Oat phenolics: Structure, occurrence and function. Webster, FH. In: Oats: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Cereal Chemists, Inc.; 1986:227-291.
- 14. Emmons, CL and Peterson, DM. Antioxidant activety and phenolic contents of oat groats and hulls. Cereal Chemistry. 1999;76:902-906.
- 15. Graf, E. Antioxidant potential of ferulic acid. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 1992;13:435-448.
- Fowler, JF, Nebus, J, Wallo, W, and Eichenfield, LF. Colloidal oatmeal formulations as adjunct treatments in atopic dermatitis. *Journal of Drugs in Dermatology*. 2012;11(7):804-807.
- 17. Paton, D. Oat starch. I. Extraction, purification and pasting properties. Staerke. 1977;29:149-153.
- Wood, PJ. Oat β-glucan: Structure location and properties. Webster, FH. In: Oat: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Cereal Chemists, Inc.; 1986:121-152.
- MacArthur-Grant, LA. Sugars and nonstarchy polysaccharides in oats. Webster, FH. In: Oats: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Cereal Chemists, Inc.; 1986:75-92.
- Peterson, DM and Brinegar, AC. Oat storage proteins. Webster, FH. In: Oats: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Cereal Chemists, Inc.; 1986:153-204.
- Lockhart, HB and Hurt, HD. Nutrition of oats. Webster, FH. In: Oats: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, Minnesota: American Association of Cereal Chemists, Inc.; 1986:292-310.
- 22. Poppovici, G, Weissenboeck, G, Bouillant, ML, Dellamonica, G, and Chopin, J. Isolation and characterization of flavonoids from *Avena sativa* L. *Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenzuchtung-Journal Of Plant Breeding*. 1977;85:103-115.
- Chopin, J, Dellamonica, G, Bouillant, ML, Besset, A, Poppovici, G, and Veissenboeck, G. C-Glycosylflavones from Avena sativa L. Phytochemistry. 1977;16:2041-2043.
- 24. Wenzig, E, Kunert, O, Ferreira D, Schmid, M, Schuhly, W, Bauer, R, and Hiermann, A. Flavonolignans from *Avena sativa*. *Journal of Natural Products*. 2005;68(2):289-292.

- 25. Osbourn, AE. Preformed antimicrobial componenets and plant defense against fungal attack. Plant Cell. 1996;8(10):1821-1831.
- Poginsky B, Westendorf N, Prosenc N, Kuppe M, and Marquardt H. St. John's wort (Hypericum perforatum L.). Genotoxicity induced by quercetin content. Deutsche Apotheker Zeitung. 1988;128:13464-13466.
- Harwood M, Danielewska-Nikiel B, Borzelleca JF, Flamm GW, Williams GM, and Lines TC. A critical review of the data related to the safety of
 quercetin and lack of evidene of *in vivo* toxicity, including lack of genotoxic/carcinogenic properties. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*.
 2007;45(11):2179-2205.
- Pierre Fabre. Scientific Report: Rhealba® Oat Plantlets. A-Derma, Avoine Rhealba®. 2010. dermoapo.no/produkter/a_derma/linker/content_1/text_2957f752-4376-43d8-8f1b-4f1bea492ba1/1356723884261/ds_exomega_ang.pdf. Report No. Réf. 479005 - Réf. 479002 - 01/10. pp. 1-44.
- Abouzied, MM, Azcona, JI, Braselton WE, and Pestka JJ. Immunochemical assessment of mycotoxins in 1989 grain foods: Evidence for deoxynivalenol (vomitoxin) contamination. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 1991;57(3):672-677.
- 30. Edwards, SG. Fusarium mycotoxin content of UK organic and conventional oats. Food Additives and Contaminants. 2009;26(7):1063-1069.
- 31. Vidal, A, Marín, S, Ramos, AJ, Cano-Sancho, G, and Sanchis, V. Determination of aflatoxinsm deoxynivalenol, ochratoxin A and zearalenone in wheat and oat based bran supplements sold in the Spanish market. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. 2013;53(March):133-138.
- 32. Wu, W, Cook, ME, Chu, FS, Buttles, T, Hunger, J, and Sutherland, P. Case study of bovine dermatitis caused by oat stra infected with *Fusarium sporotrichioides*. *Veterinary Record*. 1997;140(April):399-400.
- 33. Eurola, M, Hietaniem, V, Kontituri, M, Tuuri, H, Pihlava, J-M, Saastamoinen, M, Rantanen, O, Kangas, A, and Niskanen, M. Cadmium contents of oats (*Avena sativa* L.) in officialt variety organic cultivation, and nitrogen fertilization trials during 1997-1999. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*. 2003;51(9):2608-2614.
- 34. Tanhuanpää, P, Kalendar, R, Schulman, AH, and Kiviharju, E. A major gene for grain cadmium accumulation in oat (*Avena sativa L.*). *Genome*. 2007;50(6):588-594.
- 35. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Frequency of use of cosmetic ingredients. FDA Database. 2013. Washington, DC: FDA.
- 36. Personal Care Products Council. 2-3-2014. Concentration of Use information: Avena sativa-Derived Ingredients.
- 37. Physician's Desk Reference for nonprescription Drugs. 15 ed. Montvale, NJ: Medical Economics Data Production Co., 1994.
- 38. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Chickenpox (Varicella). http://www.cdc.gov/chickenpox/index.html. Date Accessed 2-25-2014.
- 39. Dick LA. Colloidal emollient bath in pediatric dermatoses. Archives of Pediatrics. 1958;75:506-508.
- 40. Dick LA. Colloidal emmolient baths in geriatric dermatoses. Skin. 1962;1:89-91.
- 41. Grais, ML. Role of colloidal oatmeal in dermatological teatment of the aged. AMA Archives of Dermatology and Syphilology. 1953;68:402-407.
- 42. O'Brasky, L. Management of extensive dry skin conditions. Connecticut Medicine. 1959;23:20-21.
- 43. Smith GC. The treatment of various dermatoses associated with dry skin. Journal of the South Carolina Medical Association. 1958;54:282-283.
- 44. Adler, JH. Antioestrogenic activity in Fahli clover hay and oat hay. Acta Endocrinology. 1965;49:90-96.
- 45. Schmaus, G, Herrmann, M, and Joppe, H. Oat avenanthramides: New activities to reduce itch sensations in skin. 10-24-2004. Orlando, FL.
- 46. Wallo, W, Nebus, J, and Nystrand, G. Agents with adjunctive potential in atopic dermatitis. 2007. Washington, DC.
- 47. Vie, K, Cours-Darne, S, Vienne, MP, Boyer F, Fabre B, and Dupuy P. Modulat ing effects of oatmeal extracts in the sodium lau ryl sulfate skin irritancy model. *Skin Pharmacology and Applied Skin Physiology*. 2002;15(2):120-124.
- 48. Aries, MF, Vaissiere, C, and Pinelli, E. Avena rhealba® inhibits A23187-stimulated arachidonic acid mobilization, eicosanoid release, and cPLA2 expression in human keratinocytes: Potential in cutaneous inflammatory disorders. *Biological & Parmaceurtical Bulletin*. 2005;28(4):601-606.
- Boisnic, S, Branchet-Gumila, MC, and Coutanceau, C. Inhibitory effect of oatmeal extract oligomer on vasoactive intestinal peptide-induced inflammation in surviving human skin. *International Journal of Tissue Reactions*. 2003;25(2):41-46.
- 50. Aseed, SA, Butt, NM, McDonald-Gibson, WJ, and Collier, HOJ. Inhibitor(s) of prostaglandin biosynthesis in extracts of oat (*Avena sativa*) seeds. *Biochemical Society Transactions*. 1981;9:444.

- Boisnic, S, Branchet, MC, and Ermosilla, V. Healing effect of a spray containing Rhealba® oat colloidal extract in an in vitro reconstitution model of skin. International Journal of Tissue Reactions. 2005;27(3):83-89.
- 52. Matheson, JD, Clayton, J, and Muller, MJ. The reduction of itch during burn wound healing. *Journal of Burn Care & Rehabilitation*. 2001;22:76-81.
- 53. Goujon, C, Jean-Decoster, C, Dahel, K, Bottigioli, D, Lahbari, F, Nicolas, J-F, and Schmitt, A-M. Tolerance of oat-based topical products in cereal-sensitized adults with atopic dermatisis. *Dermatology*. 2009;218:327-333.
- 54. Boussault, P, Léauté-Labrèze, C, Saubusse, E, Maurice-Tison, S, Perromat, M, Roul, S, Sarrat, A, Taïeb, A, and Boralevi, F. Oat sensitization in children with atopic dermatitis: Prevalence, risks and associated factors. *Allergy*. 2007;62(11):1251-1256.
- 55. Pigatto, P, Bigardi, A, Caputo, R, Angelini, G, Foti, C, Grandolfo, M, and Rizer, RL. An evaluation of the allergic contact dermatitis potential of colloidal grain suspensions. *American Journal of Contact Dermatitis*. 1997;8(4):207-209.
- 56. Rowe LD. Photosesitization problems in livestock. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 1989;5(2):301-323.
- 57. Codreanu, F, Morisset, M, Cordebar, V, Kanny, G, and Moneret-Vautrin, DA. Risk of allergy to food proteins in topical medicinal agents and cosmetics. *European Annals of allergy and Clinical Immunology*. 2006;38(4):126-130.
- 58. Riboldi, A, Pigatto, PD, Altomare, GF, and Gibelli, E. Contact allergic dermatitis from oatmeal. Contact Dermatitis. 1988;18:316-317.
- 59. Pazzaglia, M, Jorizzo, M, Parente, G, and Tosti, A. Allergic contact dermatitis due to avena extract. Contact Dermatitis. 2000;42(6):364.
- 60. de Pax Arranz, S, Pérez Montero, A, Zapatero Remón, M, and Martínez Molero, I. Allergic conact urticaria to oatmeal. 57. 2002;(1215).
- 61. Dempster, JG. Contact dermatitis from bran and oats. Contact Dermatitis. 1981;7(2):12.
- Vansina, S, Debilde, D, Morren, M-A, and Goossens, A. Sensitizing oat extracts in cosmetic creams: Is there an alternative? Contact Dermatitis. 2010;63(3):169-171.